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THE MANY HEIRS OF

Jonathan Lewis

An occasional obituary will an-
nounce the passing of a *descendant”
of the first family of south Florida:
the Lewis family, discovered farming
on MNew River in 1793. Some of these
descendants can relate the oral tra-
dition of George C. Lewis, who died
in Key West at the turn of the cen-
tury, and his father Robert, grandfa-
ther George, and great-grandfather
Jonathan Lewis. It was Jonathan
and his wife Polly, they say, who in
1825 received government grants to
two aquare miles of land including
present-day Coconut Grove and
Brickell Avenue in Miami. Just as
often, they will inveigh against the
uncertain events which must have
cost them their rightful inheritance,
for the family of George Lewis [ — as
Lewis family genealogists called him
— was ignored when railroad lawyers
gettled the major land title disputes
in Miami a hundred years ago.

A gquarter century later, the
Lewises reappeared, and began giv-
ing deeds to the lands, both the

by Patrick Scott

Jonathan and Polly Lewis donations
and the Frankee Lewis Donation
which had been farmed by Jonathan's
parents on the New River. They en-
dured lawsuits by powerful land-own-
ing interests, and they brought suits
of their own. They carried the fight

in one 1920 court case to the Florida
Supreme Court. And from the ashes
of that litigation, a *forgotten® bramch
of the Lewis family arose, and con-
tinued the court battles for yet am-
other forty-three years. As recently
as 1957 they won a vindication of

info the 1860

The first known non-Indian inhabitants of Broward County,
the Surles Lewis family, appear on the pages of history in Spanish
reports daled 1793 and reprinted in previous issues of Broward
Legacy. The family's longstanding connections fo south Florida's
history took an unusual turn in the early fwentieth century, as
family members became involved in legal actions over land titles in
the rapidly growing area. The subsequent emergence of other self-
described heirs triggered additional legal batiles which condinued

In "The Many Heirs of Jonathan Lewis,” Patrick Scotf fraces
the tangled and fascinating legal and gencalogical trail of the
pioneer Lewis family, those who elaimed to be their descendants,
and the land disputes in which they were involved. Hiz findings are
baged on exfensive research in a vast array of primary material, and
offer a solution to an enduring historical mystery. Mr Scolt is a
native of Fort Lauderdale, where he practices law.
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their family's right to sell the lands
supposedly granted to them during
the presidency of John Quincy
Adams.

Upon investigation, it appears
that the generations of lawsuits re-
sulted from a case of mistaken iden-
tity, though the Lewis heirs are likely
learning it for the first time in these
pages. The story of the two Lewis
families ia the unravelling of a mys-
tery now 200 years old.

The Surles Lewis Family

Let it be said, in fairness, that
the descendants of Surles and
Frankee Lewis live today in the
Florida Keys, the Bahamas, and alse-
where, but none of them is named

Lewis, and they were generally left |
out of the land title disputes. Their |
ancestors were probably British Loy-
alists who had fed from America at
the close of the Revolutionary War.
Most resettled on small plots in Abaco
and its neighboring Bahama Islands.
The Abaco sons who aspired to free-
dom from their rocky island, at the
risk of shortening their lives, took to
the sea as wreckers and turtlers who
worked the abandoned south Florida
seacoast then controlled by Spain,!
But for a few short-lived settle-
ments by Spanish-sanctioned entre-
preneurs, the only white settlements
south of the Indian River during the
Second Spanish colonial peried (1783-
1821) were the isolated farm of Surles

and Frankee Lewis and their sons,
and the homes of other Bahamian
families named Egan and Pent? A
military explorer in 1522 noted only
one settlement in south Florida, on
Key Biscayne, but commented that
Jonathan Lewis and his father had
acted as pilots on the Florida reefs
for many years.? It is unclear
whether the Lewises were Abacoan
loyalists, but it is known that the
Spanish governor in 5t. Augustine
had been suspicious of their connec-
tiong with a British-American adven-
turer named William Augustus
Bowles who plagued the colenial gov-
ernment for vears with threats of
leading an Indian invasion force?
Historians believe that Surles
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The 1776 Bernard Romans map of the "Southern British Colonies in America,”
based on a number of coastal surveys, illustrates the relative locations
of Florida and the Bahama Islands.
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Lewis and his sons lived and died by
the sea, excepting Jonathan, who
survived to become an American citi-
zen after Florida's acquisition by the
United States in 1821. He had peti-
tioned for and received a grant of one
square mile at the site of his resi-
dence gouth of the Miami River, un-
der an 1824 American law intended
to benefit Protestant colonial settlers
who had not been eligible for land
grants under the Spanish govern-
ment.* These so-called Donation Act
grants were awarded (o anyvone who
could prove cccupation and cultiva-
tion of the land prior to the cession
of Florida. Jonathan, his widowed
mother Frankee, and his sister-in-
law Polly received their "donations,”
three of only five on mainland south
Florida, after the extension of the
original deadline set by Congress. No
one in south Florida had heard of the
law until the first deadline had
passed, because their “local situation®
had been so isolated.®

The Lewis farms, not the sea,
may have provided their principal
support. An 1825 deed described the
New River property as including
buildings, a lime and orange grove,
and coconut trees, and an 1836 visi-
tor wrote that oranges, limes, lem-
ona, sugar apples, coconuts, and gua-
vas had been grown there for forty
YVEATs,

All three Lewis grants were sold
between 1830 and 1835 to speculator
{and early Florida legislator) Richard
Fitzpatrick for prices between $300
and $500, but Jonathan Lewis re-
mained in south Florida.” He pre-
sumably cared for his mother until
her death sometime during the early
1830s." His name appears in the 1830
and 1840 census returns in Monroe
County, which then included the
Keys and the lower peninsula extend-
ing north to Hillsboro Inlet on the
east coast, but he and his family dis-
appeared during the Second Semi-
nole War, which ended in 18427 In
published accounts, all mention of the
family ends there.

On the Trail of Jonathan Lewis

Genealogical research among
manuseript collections and Baha-
mian government and church

Above is a map of the Frankee Lewis Donation as surveyed by

Deputy United States Surveyor George MacKay in 1845, Below
are historic ceramic shards and bottle glass from the Lewis

site, Blscayne Bay (courtesy of Archaeological and Historical
Conservancy).
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records, undertaken over the course
of twenty years by Betty Bruce of Key
West, provided the missing links be-
tween the Lewis family of Spanish
colonial Florida and some of their
modern-day descendants, According
to the marriage register of St.
Matthew's Church in Nassau,
Jonathan married Ann Watson June
18, 1808; the church’s birth register
establishes the arrival of six children:

Elizabeth Catherine Lewis,
born October 14, 1808; she married
Captain James Gould, March 9, 1826:

Frances Lewis, born June 28,
1811; Frances married William
Henry Johnson, also a sea captain,
Movember 1, 1834;

John Watson Lewis, born June
a0, 1814; married Mary Augusta
Sawyer, May 25, 1833;

William Serle Lewis, born July
4, 181T:

George Lewis, born March 17,
1820; and

Alexander Lewis, born May 19,
1822 (who apparently died as a
child).»

Spanish spies in 1793 had made
note of two other Lewis brothers, sons
of Burles and Frankee and uncles to
the six children named above, but it
seems that only Jonathan survived
to the American acquisition of the
Florida colony inm 1821,%

From  territorial days,
Jonathans name appears frequently
in extant documents: in the Key West
newspapers as a ship captain trans-
porting goods between Key West and
the Gulf port of 3t. Mark's; in the
Monroe County deed books as a wit-
ness to documents; in the General
Land Office files as a claimant under
the Donation Act; and in the supe-
rior court files as a juror and jury
foreman. =

It is likely that Jonathan Lewis
sold his land c¢laim to Richard
Fitzpatrick in 1835--for $300-- to
raise money to enter a more stable
line of business than fruit groves.
William Cooley and Fitzpatrick had
set up elaborate comptie processing
mills in the New River and Miami
River areas respectively, and Lewis’
lime and orange grove business prob-
ably suffered from the high rate of

spoilage noted by other pioneer farm-
ers," The pilot business was on the
wane a8 well. Lighthouses had been
erected by the American government
at Cape Florida and points farther up
the coast; light-ships were planned
for three locations along the reef, and
pilots would no longer be so neces-
sary to guide ships through the
Straits of Florida or the Bahama
Channel.

Tranaport of cargo from
Charleston via Key West to St.
Mark's, Apalachicola, and points west
filled an important need for the grow-
ing territory, and Jonathan Lewis
began to ply the trade routes that
pasaed through the Straits of Florida.
His name first appears in this regard
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Notice of departure of Jonathan
Lewis's brig Somerset for St.
Marks in the August 22, 1835, Key
“&ll Eﬂquimi

as the owner of a large brig, the
Somerset, shortly after he had sold
his land. "

Jonathan's mother, Frankee
Lewis, had sold her land claim on the
New River at present-day Fort Lau-
derdala once before, in 1825, to the
agent who helped her fill out the Do-
nation Act paperwork. However, the
buyer, Solomon Snyder, an American
deputy consul in Cuba, died a month
later on his way home to New York,
and his deed was never recorded in
the Monroe County Deed Books,™
When Richard Fitzpatrick purchased

the same property for 8400 in 1830,
he was apparently unaware of the
previous unrecorded sale. As the first
to record his deed in Key West, he
derived clear title to the land under
the English common law rule in ef
fect in Florida at the time, "

After the death of Frankee
Lewis and the sale of Jonathan's and
Polly's lands to Fitzpatrick, Jonathan
made his living on the seas. Three of
his children married into Abaco loy-
alist families, and his three sons lived
with or near him at a farm on
Fitzpatrick's “Jonathan Lewis Dona-
tion,” roughly a mile south of the
Miami River. No visible trace of the
farm remains, but the Lewis settle-
ment appeared on maps as early as
1823."" There had been two framed
houses and outbuildings worth
$2,500 on the Lewis parcel, accord-
ing to Fitzpatrick's 1842 claim for
government relief after the Indians
attacked the property® The official
coast survey, in 1845, noted a lime
grove near the present site of Bay
Point on Brickell Avenue. " Excava-
tions there this year at the site of a
nineteenth century stairway cut into
the limestone cliffs on Biscayne Bay
yielded Spanish pottery sherds and
other evidence of a home dating from

| the early nineteenth century.

The year 1835 brought two
great catastrophes to south Florida
and to the Lewis farmily. On Septem-
ber 15, the greatest hurricane in Kay
Westers’ memory crossed the island
of Antigua and bore down on the
southeast Florida coast. MNeither the
Key West nor Bahama newspapers
at first recognized the devastation
which the storm wrought on the
Florida mainland. Fewer than two
dozen white settlers and perhapa the
same number of slaves lived in the
settlements known as Cape Florida
{Miami) and New River (Fort Lander-
dale). But the Key West Enguirer
noted ominously on September 26
that the entire Lewis family was
among the missing.™

Every available boat was
pressed into duty, searching for cast-
aways and salvaging wrecked ships,
particularly the rich Spanish brig Gil
Blas, which had been forced aground
at Hillsbore Inlet. The first boats
back into Key West on September 22
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and Nassau on September 23 must
have reported that Jonathan and Ann
Lewis survived the storm, but their
two older sons, John and William,
had perished at sea. The 5t.
Matthew's Church death register in
Nassau lists them as “drowned, Sep-
tember 15, 1835, and the Bahamas
Royal Gazette noted John's wife Mary
Ann as among those killed in the
hurricane.®

Jonathan Lewis' vessel, the brig
Somerset, may have been destroyed
in the hurricane, for his name does
not appear again in the arrivals-and-
departures listings of Key West and
Bahama newspapers until January
1836.% By that time he had surely
relocated his family to Key West,
where his daughter Frances and her
husband lived. =

The reason for this move was
probably not the hurricane, but
rather the Seminole Indians. While
New River settler William Cooley and
others were salvaging the il Blas
two months after the storm, Cooley's
family was massacred in an Indian
attack which helped igmite the See.
ond Seminole War. All southeast
Florida mainland settlers fled to the
Keys, and no whites made permanent
residences on the mainland for a de-
cade,

The Lewises had lost two sons,
a daughter-in-law and possibly other
family members in the storm. Their
home, on the land Fitzpatrick had
bought from them, was destroyed by
the SBeminoles. Having given up his
land claim, and now being forced to
abandon his home on Biscayne Bay,
Jonathan had good cause to leave
mainland Florida. The Bahamas did
not provide an attractive option for
the Lewises, who, unlike other loyal-
ist families, had no land claim in
Abaco, In any event, the emancipa-
tion of all slaves had been declared
by the British king in 1834, to take
effect four years later. A great num-
ber of elave-vwning Abacoans were
packing their families for the move
to Key West, creating a boom which
would triple the white and black
pepulation of the Florida Keys by
1840.%

Rose Richards, who came to the
Miami River settlement as a young
girl in 1858 and met Jonathan's son,

George Lewis, recalled in a 1903
newspaper article George's story of
the Lewis family's odyssey:

A deep gloom was cast over
the Lewis family and their
friends by the death from drown-
ing of one of (Frankee Lewis']
grandsons and his bride of a
month. They, with a third party,
went over to visit the Cape
Florida lighthouse, and on a re-
turn trip were overtaken by a se-
vere gale which their boat was
unable to weather Their bodies
were recovered near the little key
in front of where Cutler ie now
located and they were buried af
the Punch Bowl.

The work of improving the
homes and cultivating the lands
progressed steadily. Fruits, veg-
etables, and cotton were planted,
maostly eofton, which was exten-
sively grown on both sides of the
river, giving constant employ-
ment to the large number of
slaves owned by the Lewis fam-
ily.

* ¥ ok

[After the first news of In-
dian unrest in December 18357
the Lewis families remained at
home until all hope wes dis-
pelled, when they went to Indian
Hey, where they stayed until the
news was carried to them that the
Indians hed made an attack on
some of the settlers... [They! there.
fare left their homes, going to Key
West, where they lived for many
years afterward.

* & *

{In 1858.] Mr. George Lewis
returned to Miomi fo again sesk
for himself and those he brought
with hirm, new homes.

The place he came from was
in or near the cily of Houston,
Texas, the place where the whole
of kis family moved to from here
at the beginning of the Indian
hostilities in the year 1837, Much
sickness and frequent deaths re-
duced the membership of the fam-
ily to such an alarming extent,
that Mr. Lewis eame away bring-
ing those that could or would
come with him, after losing his
wife and child, father and

maother, Mr. and Mrs. Jonathan
Lewis, hizs gister and her hus-
berned, named Johnson, whe had
left one son and four daughters
to his care. These five ehildren,
now nearly grown, with Ben-
Jamin Tiner, the life-long slave of
the Lewis family, came with him
and moved af onee into the Dukes'
howse, before mentioned as stand-
ing on the point of the river now
known as Brickell's Point.

Mr. Lewis, though possessed
of considerable means was desir-
ous of finding a good location on
which to build a factory, and en-
gage in the manufacturing of
leomptie] starch.®

The 1850 ¢ensus of Harris
County, Texas (population of Hous-
ton: 2,000) shows Ann Lewis living
with her son George, his wife and
child apparently having already died.
While George worked as a
“boatwright,” his brother-in-law, Wil-
liam H. Johnson, farmed land nearby.
The Lewises had come to Texas after
1840, since the census of that year
found them in Key West. William and
Frances Lewis Johnson must have
joined the rest of the family in Texas
bafore 1843, since their ten-year-old
daughter, Annie Eliza, was born in
Florida, but seven-vear-old Frances
was born in Texas. Family tradition
has it that the Johnsons returned to
Key West by sloop on several ocea-
sions,®

Jonathan's oldest daughter,
Elizabeth Catherine Leawis Gould,
apparently never made the move to
Texas. Her husband, James Gould,
worked as a ship eaptain out of
Nassan, and the births of their five
children were recorded in church
records there, ™

Jonathan Lewis, who must have
been about seventy years old in 1850,
does not appear in the Texas census.
Elizabeths death notice in a Nassau
newspaper in April 1850 lists her as
the “eldest daughter of Jonathan
Lewis, Esq, of Georgetown, 8.C,, and
wife of Capt, James Gould of Massau,”
but contemporary records from
Georgetown, South Carclinae, near
Charleston, make no mention of
Jonathan.®™ When or where he died
is unknown,
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Upon his return to Miami,
George Lewis entered into a brief
partnership with Robert Fletcher in
a water driven comptie mill at Arch
Creek, but in March 1860 he bought
out George Ferpuson's store, home,
and forty acres, centering on today's
Thirtesnth Avenue on the south
shore of the Miami River.® He oper-
ated the store and post office for three
years, with the help of his nephew,
William Alex Johnson, his nieces, and
old Ben Tiner. The four girls at-
tracted a great deal of attention to
the Lewis house in the Florida wilds,
according to Rose Richards, and in
short order three of the nieces mar-
ried Abaco boys. The fourth later
married a Conch, Benjamin Alonzo
Baker.

At this time, the Civil War had
begun, Key West was in Federal
hands, and still fewer than fifty whita
pettlers lived in Dade County (which
stretched from the upper Keys to the
Hillsboro Inlet).® Jonathan Lewis'
family had grown to ten grandchil-
dren:

FUnner,

arn ardent Southerner whose sym-
pathy, with his untired energy
was all given to the Southern
cause. His many successful jour-
neys with the small but staunch
little schooner loaded with such
produce as he could exchange for
provisions and ofher necessaries
of life and health of the people for
which ke was in sympathy, were
made by him between Miami and
Pease Creek [now Peace River], on
the west coast and return, and
from Miami to Nassau, N.P and
refurn ™

While in southwest Florida,

agent for the Confederacy, and was
arrested by the Federals, We know
that he corresponded with the Con-
federate commander of Tampa, and
government records reflect hia arrest
at Fort Myers on January 7, 1864.%
Frustrated Union blockaders eventu-
ally burned his starch factory and
] damaged his home in 1863, after

Georgianna Gould, married
Cronld

no children

William Serle Lewia (died 1B35)
no children

George Lewis

Jonathan Lewis (died 1850s), married Ann Watsen (died 1850s)

Elizabeth Lewis (died 18500, marricd James Gould (died 1854)
William James Gould, married Matilda

James Robert L. Gould, married Charlotte Izabel Roberts

Frances Lewis (died 1850s), married William Henry Johnson (died1850s)
William Alex Johnson, married Mary M. Brewer
Caroline M. Johnson, married William A, Cornish
Frances Johnson, married John Cornish
Elizabeth Johnson, married John Sweeting
Patience Malinda Johnson, married Benjamin A. Baker

John Watson Lewia (died 1835), married Mary Augustus Sawyer (died 1835)

no surviving children, but raiged Johnson children

HEnowles

George Lewis acted as an Indian |

During the Civil War, the iso-
lated Miami River was home to a
rough mix of Federal and Confeder-
ate sympathizers, loners, draft dodg-
ers, and rogues of every kind.® Like
several neighbors, George Lewis
maintained a second career along
with his store. He was a blockade

which he delivered his “deeds and
other valuables" to Rose Richards'
father and left to start a new life “in
a place called Coshmel, a place some-
where on the coast of Central
America.™ Old Ben Tiner stayed on
in Miami until his death in 1869, and
William A. Johnson moved to the

Florida west coast, settling in DeSoto
County in 1887 and building a log
home at Pine Island on the telegraph
route through the prairie east of
present-day Arcadia.™

George Lewis returned briefly,
not long afterwards, to Key West, and
sent word to Rose Richards' family
that all who wished could join him
on his return trip to “Coshmel.” His
offer was declined, and, having never
been heard from again, it was always
supposed that George Lewis drowned
on the return trip.

The Third Generation

The surviving Lewis descen-
dants, five children of Frances
Johnson and five children of Eliza-
beth Gould, grew up, married, and
had children of their own. No doubt
they had heard that their grandfa-
ther had once owned land on
Biscayne Bay, but Uncle George had
never raised the claim, and there is
no reason to believe that they ever
intended to pursue it. If anything,
they may have had greater reason to
inquire into the forty acres George
had purchased from George
Ferguson. This, in fact, they did.

In August 1899, William A.
Johnson--by then one of the founders
of the town of Fort Ogden in DeSoto
County--deeded a one- fourth inter-
est in this forty acres to his son-in-
law, John L. Jones.™ In March 19040,
Johnson's two surviving sisters,
Frances Cornish and Patience
Malinda Baker, joined by the wid-
ower and children of their sister
Carocline, deeded the remaining
three-fourths interest in the forty
acres toJones. ™ Apparently, they did
not believe it was necessary to obtain
a deed also from the surviving hus-
band of their deceased sister, Eliza-
beth Sweeting. And they made no
mention of their cousins, the Goulds,

| a8 possible heirs, presumably because
| either George Lewis had adopted the

Johnsons when their parents had
died, or Lewis had left a will naming
thermn as his sole heirs. John L. Jones
sold the forty acre parcel to a devel-
oper who platted the Rivermont sub-
division, one of Miami's first, in
1904
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The Jehnsons, at the same time,
deeded to Jones a aquare mile of land
near Houston, Texas.® This land had
been purchased in 1856 by George
Lewis for $315 from Spyres Single-
ton, who had lived near Jonathan and
Ann Lewis in Key West before mov-
ing to Texas. Suits in Houston by two
landowners early this century estab-
lished that George Lewis had sold the
property in 1857 to one H. 5, Bowles,
and that the deed had been lost.
Texas records do not reflect what, if
anything, Jones recovered from the
land, but title was eventually settled
in the name of D. A, Oates of Texas.**

Meanwhile, the Donation Act
lands in Florida continued to change
hands without any interference from
the Lewis family. Mary Brickell, an
Australian emigree living in Cleve-
land, joined her husband William in
1871 at Miami, where he had opened
a general store on the south bank of
the river. Between 1870 and 1874,
the Brickells acquired all of the
Frankee, Jonathan, and Polly Lewis
Donations from Richard Fitzpatrick's
gister, Harriet English of Columbia,
South Carelina, who had herself in-
herited the property on the death of
her son William in 1855, William
English, a slaveholder who had taken
over Fitzpatrick’s plantation opera-
tions at the close of the Second Semi-
nole War, had purchased the land
from his uncle for $16,000 in 1843,
but died intestate in 1855.4

Mra. Brickell also purchased the
two Egan (or “Hagan™) donations
from Harriet English, giving her title
to all five donations in Dade County
at a time when the State of Florida's
Internal Improvement Trust Fund
was just beginning to sell off the ad-
jacent public lands. Suits in 1888 and

1892 established that her title to the |
Egan properties was superior to that |

of another claimant named Hagan,
who sought to capitalize on the simi-
larity of his name to that of the
Egans, and that a late-discovered
mortgage on all five grants given by
Fitzpatrick to Harriet English had
merged into Mra. Brickell's title. ™ At
this tima, Mary Brickell began to in-
quire of the General Land Office in
Washington, both directly and

These ¢. 18900 portraita show Jonathan Lewis' grandson, Will-
iam A. "Sandy" Johnson with his wife Mary and one of their
daughters (above), and (below) another of William and Mary's
daughters, Morning Johnson Jones, with her husband John L.
Jones. (Both photos courtesy of Clande C. Jones, Jr.}
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Mary Brickell (front)
(Photo courtesy of Historical As-
sociation of Southern Florida.)

through Miami lawyer J.A. McCrory,
whether the land patents had been
issued to anyone else.®

In 18895, lawyers for the Florida
East Coast Railway interests were
examining title for Mary Brickell to
the lands in Dade County through
which the railread would run. Mrs,
Brickell had been paying the taxes
and building improvements on the
properties south of the Miami River,
but the railroad lawyers informed her
that she needed to complete the pro-
cess of divesting title to the donation
grants from the United States gov-
ernment.* In October 1895, she ob-
tained certificates from the U.S. Land
Office in Gainesville, confirming that
in 1825 the East Florida Land Com:-
missioners had approved the dona-
tions, and she forwarded the certifi-
cates, along with her own affidavit
enclosing relevant Dade County
court decuments, to Washington,
D.C. The government patents to
these lands, under the Donation Act
of 1824, could be issued only in the
names of the original donees, accord-
ing to the General Land Office in
Washington. So, at Mary Brickell's
request in 1896, the patents were is-
sued to Jonathan Lewis and Polly
Lewis, both long dead.*

The Frankee Lewis Donation
patent had already been issued, in
that name, in 1870, and delivered to

kLS

the attorney for the heirs of Solomon
Snyder.*® At the same time, Mrs.
Brickell's title examiners questioned
the legitimacy of the intervening
transactions involving Richard
Fitzpatrick, his nephew William En-
glish, and his sister Harriet English,
all of whom had since died. To clear
the title issues, the attorneys located
every known heir of the Lewises,
Fitzpatrick, the Englishes, and
Snyder, and put them on formal no-
tice of Mrs. Brickell’s intention to
preserve the testimony of witnesses
who woitld affirm title in her name.
The recorded testimony provides
gome additional information about
the Lewis lineage.**

Patience Malinda Johnson
Baker, who was born in Texas in 1847
or 1848, and returned with her Uncle
CGeorge to Biscayne Bay in 1858, tes-
tified on November 14, 1896:

v« « she s and has been a resi-
dent of Key West, Florida, for
many years; that she is a Grand
Daughter of Jonathan Lewis,
wheo lived on and owned the
Jonathan Lewis Donation, a
tract of land bordering on
Biscayne Bay; that said
Jonathan Lewis afterward
moved fo Key West, Florida, and
lived at the latter ploce many

and the widew of a man who had ob-
tained a tax deed (probably fraudu-
lently), and even the descendants of
Solomon Snyder {whose grandchil-
dren had located the 1825 deed to the
Frankee Lewis Donation and had
filed it with the U.5. General Land
Office in 1870, before Mrs. Brickell
purchased the Fitzpatrick-English
interest).® She assembled written
depositions by many of Dade County's
earliest pioneers: Frederick 8, Morse
{a resident sinee 1884), John W, Ewan
{1874}, John Harner (1872), Dennis
O'Neill (1884), and William M.
Mettair, as well as Harriet English’s
agent from 1851 to 1874, Fernando
I. Moreno.*

All the English and Snyder
heirs accepted small payments for
giving up their claima, in the face of
overwhelming evidence of Mary
Brickell’'s ownership, since by her
open possession of the lands in the
face of adverse claims for more than
geven vears she had earned prescrip-
tive title to the property regardless

years, that deponent knew the
Lewis family and that Jonathan

and Polly Lewis were brother and l

sister and were the children of
Frankee Lewis, who was the
original grantee of the Frankee
Lewis Donation an New River;
that said Polly Lewis who was the
grantee of said donation was
nicknamed “Polly” Lewis and
was generally known under the
nare of Polly Lewis; that her real
narme was Mary Lewis, and that
she wrote her name as Mary
Lewis and not as Polly Lewis;
that she believes that said Polly
Lewis or Mary Lewis was never
married.™
Mary Brickell had supposed
that her title to the Egan and Lewis
lands was complete, particularly af-
ter her extensive efforts in 1895-096
to preserve evidence of her owner-
ship.** Her attorneys had tracked

down maost of the Lewis descendants,
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The Memorial of Polly Lewis to
the East Florida Land Commis-
sioners, 1824, proves that she was
the widow of William Lewis and
not, as later claimed, wife of

Jonathan Lewis (courtesy of
Florida State Archives).
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of any flaws in the chain-of-title ™
The largest payments went to the
Snyder heirs, who did not settle un-
til it became known that the EE.C.
Railway would pass through the do-
nation, assuring that the future city
of Miami would develop on the prop-
erty. When it later became necessary
to obtain another guit-claim deed
from heirs of Harriet English, the
price of the land had risen to £3,000.%

Although Mrs. Brickell gave the
known Lewis descendants notice of
her deposition-taking, she did not
name them as defendants in any suit.
Her lawyers, Robbins, Graham &
Chillingworth, gave her a formal title
opinion on June &, 1896, that the
Lewis' title was divested by the deeds
to Snyder and Fitzpatrick,

In 1888, Mrsa. Brickell brought
suit again, this time against the heiras
of Wilhemina Baron, who held an
1851 deed to the Jonathan Lewis
Donation from one Alexander
Mackay® Mr. Mackay's deed was ex-
ecuted by William English in 1848,
after Dade County had been estab-

FEDERAL HIGHWAY {LLE. 1)

Maps showing the locations of Fort Lauderdale's Frankee Lewis lished, and both the English-to-
Donation (above) and Miami's Jonathan and Polly Lewis Do- Mackay deed and the Mackay-to-
nations (below) in relation to the modern shorelines and streets Baron deed were recorded in Mon-
i{maps by Patrick Scott). roe County during a time when no
organized county government existed
in Dade County. Why the circuit
ks J judge, then in Orlando, voided the
}I Baron claim does not appear from the

sparse records remaining.
H'.'- All passed peacefully for many
i years after the railroad arrived. The

|

City of Miami was incorporated in
1896 and the Town of Fort Lauder-
dale in 1911. Mary Brickell and her

=

=== MIAMI RIVER

.| — large family platted their first subdi-
=/ vision in 1903, and grew wealthy sell-
ing off parcels from the original five

denations.*

By 1918, Broward and Palm
Beach counties had been formed from
old Dade County, and a surge in post-
Warld War [ economic growth led to
a reinvigorated tourism industry, a
small boom in real estate develop-
ment, and strong coverage of Florida
activities in the northern press. At
the time, the surviving branches of
the Lewis family tree looked like this
{with county of residence in paren-
theses):
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Surles Lewia, m. Frankee
William Lewis
Surles Leawis, Jr
Jonathan Lewis, m, Ann Watson, d. 1850s
Elizabeth Catherine Lewis (1808-186001, m. James Gould {1804-1854)
William James Gould, m, Matilda (Monroe)
James A. Crould (Monros)
Ceorge Gould
Creorgianna Gould, m. Frnowles (Monroe)
Lillinn Knowles, m. Charles Sutton (Bahamas)
James Hobert L. Gould (1837-1877), m. Charlotte I, Hoberts (1849-1935)
Gertrude 0. Gould, m. Jackson Lowe (Monroe)
Ella 1. Gould, m. Charles J. Curry (Monroe)
Ella Minette Gould
Percival 0. Gould
Fronces Lewia (1811-1850a), m. Williama Henry Johnasn (1811-18508)
Willimm Alex Johnson (1838-1911), m. Mary M. Brewer { 1844-1918)
William €, Johnson (1880-1914)
Frances Johnaon, m, Granger
Bertha Granger
Floyd Granger
Anna Granger
Lizzie V. Johnson (1870-1883), m. R. M, Grantham
May Grantham
Morning Johnson (1888-1967), m. John L. Jones {DeSoto)
Albert Sidney Johnson (1573-1944), m, Mary A, Carr {DeSoto)
Winifred A. Johnson (1877-1960), m. Pink Annie (DeSato)
Mollie Johnson, m. Abram Waddell
Mollia J. Waddall
Faley Waddell
Edgar Waddell
Mary E. Johnson (1883-1813)
Lampton Johnson
Claude Johnaon
Patienca Malinda Johneon (e, 1848-1910s), m. Benjamin A. Baker
Stella Baker, m, Charles E. Roberts

Willinm M, Baker, m. Nellie B, i Maonroe)
Benjamin A, Baker, Jr., m. Hattie (Monros)
Olwer F. Baker

Lemuel A. Baker, m. Mamie (Monros)
Jeasie V. Baker, m. Charles E. Duval {(Duval)
Carl V. Baker, m. Hattie _____ (St Johns)
Pansy 1. Baker, m. Herschel M. Connor {8an Francisco, Cal.)
Caroline C, Johnson (c. 18487, m. William & Caornish
Goorge Cornish, m. Lizzie (Monros)
dunetta B, Cornish, m. Joseph Pinder
Hattie J. Cornish, m, Joseph Saunders (Monroe)
Ida E. Cornish, m, Earnest F, Cook
Blondie Cook
Brunstte Coak
Lea Cook
Camille Coak, m. Lena Croz (Monros)
Florell Cook, m. Vernon Griffin (Monroe)
Frances M. Johnson (¢, 1843-1922), m. John Cornish
Clara Cornish
(Annie) Elizabeth Johnson (e 1840-7), m. John Sweeting
Theodore A. Sweating
Tdi Sweeting, m. J.W. Pinder
Louise Sweeting, m. Frank Grant
Annde Sweeting, m, George W, Albury
John Watson Lawis (1814-1835)
Williarn Serles Lowis (1817-18385)
George Lewis (1820 - %, m, =
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5. BRICKELL ﬂﬁﬁs“"
ACK ON HER TITEE
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Announcement of Mrs. Brickell's
legal battle with the Lewis heirs
in a ¢. 1920 Miami newspaper
clipping.

By 1919, no ene in south Florida
remembered Jonathan Lewis or his
parents, Only one of his grandchil-
dren, Francea Johnson Cornish, was
still alive. But Mrs. Cornish, her
brothers-in-law, William Cornish and
Benjamin Alonzo Baker, and a dozen
nephews, nieces, and cousing began
collecting signatures by which their
interest in the three Lewis donations
as Jonathan's heira were conveyed to
a trustee, Lewia C., Norton (no rela-
tion to the family).® When Norton
recorded the deeds in Dade and
Broward counties in 1919, old Mary
Brickell was understandably upset.
Mre. Brickell had a large family and
a complicated plan for distributing
her assets upon her death--a plan
which would result in many years of
litigation among her own children. At
the age of eighty-four, she was aware
that the Lewis family claim had to
be eradicated quickly. But Lewis
Morton beat her to the courthouse,
The law firm of Carson & Botts filed
suits on his behalf in Dade County
in Beptember 1918, claiming title to
the Polly and Jonathan Lewis dona-
tions and seeking a partition (sale
and distribution of proceeds) of the
properties among the heirs ®

Norton's suits claimed both do-
nations, but his stronger claim lay to

those lots on the Polly Lewis Dona-
tion not yet built on. These lot owne-
ers could not elaim to have taken title
through adverse possession, and
would have to rely upon the validity
of their chain of ownership stretch-
ing from Polly Lewis to Richard
Fitzpatrick to William English to
Harriet English to the Brickells. 1Ul-
timately, however, the lawsuit called
by the Miami Herald “the most im-
portant land title action ever tried in
Dade County”™ came to involve 300
landowners.®

The theory behind the Lewis
descendants’ claim was quite simple.
The donation had been confirmed by
the Federal Land Commission to
“Polly Lewis” in 1825, but the deed
of the lands to Richard Fitzpatrick
in 1832 was signed by “Mary Lewis.”
When Mrs. Brickell obtained the 11,5,
General Land Office patent to the
property, it arrived in the name of
“Polly Lewis,” no doubt the reason
why Mrs. Brickell's lawyers in 1895
had filed the affidavit of Patience
Baker explaining that Polly and
Mary were the same person.® Be-
gides, even if Polly and Mary were
the same, Mary, unless single or wid-
owed, would have had no power to
convey land without her husband's
joinder, under the laws governing the
rights of married women in nine-
teenth century Florida® So the
Lewis descendants wanted another
chanece to prove that Jonathan Lewis
had been the husband of Polly, and
that therefore Jonathan's heirs had
inherited Polly's land because he had
died without a will-and without con-
veying the Polly Lewis Donation to
Fitzpatrick himself.

The key to the Lewis heirs' case
lay in the testimony of Frances
Johnson Cornish, the last surviver of
the family which had moved to Texas
seventy years before. Miami lawyer
Fred Botts wrote to Key West attor-
ney W. Hunt Harrig in June 1921 that
he had traveled to Tallahassee and
obtained copies of Mary Lewis' 1824
petition and the December 1825 con-
firmation of the lands in the name of
Polly Lewis, Botts concluded that
Mary and Polly were different people,
but suggested that Harris preserve
the testimony of Frances Cornish
without delay® We do not know if

Mrs. Cornish ever testified, so we
may never know whether she was
really unaware that Mary “Polly”®
Lewis was actually the widow of
Jonathan's brother, William, or
whether her memory was clouded by
the knowledge that the entire case
depended upon her testimony®

The lawsuit did not last long.
Circuit Judge H. Pierre Branning in
August 1920 struck Norton's bill of
complaint on the ground that a suit
may not combine adverse defendants,
whose title the suit seeks to strike,
with friendly defendants, to whom
the complainant seeks to partition
the property.® The decision was af-
firmed by the Florida Supreme Court
in January 1922, but on ancther
ground:; that the passage of nearly
104} years without complaint about
the land titles constituted laches, that
is, a delay so prejudicial to the ad-
verse parties that they should not be
made to defend.® Norton's suit was
dismigsed without the court address-
ing the credibility of the allegations,
although Justice James B, Whitfield
went out of his way to comment on
the probability that Polly Lewis and
Mary Lewis had been the same per-
somn.

When the supreme court de-
cided the case, the Miami Herald
trumpeted the victory for the lot own-
ers, predicting that "real estate sales
in the disputed territory will pick up.”
Apparently not recognizing the stay-
ing power of the Lewis litigants, the
Herald also predicted that the high
court ruling “effectually stops any
further litigation.™ Lewis descen-
dants heard something else. They
told Fort Lauderdale News columnist
Wesley Stout, forty-five years later,
that Norton had “sold out" for
S10,000,™

Even before the Florida Su-
preme Court issued its written rul-
ing, Mary Brickell filed suits against
the Lewis descendants' trustee
(Morton), several minor heirs, and
*unknown claimants” as to the
Frankee Lewis Donation in Broward
County, and the Jonathan and Polly
Lewis Donations in Dade County, in
May 1921, Mrs. Brickell charged
that the defendants were clouding
title to her lands because the Lewis
heirs were:



Judges H. Pierre Branning (left) and E. C. Davis ended the genuine Jonathan Lewis heirs' claims
to the donation properties. (Photos courtesy of Peter Branning and
Historical Association of Southern Florida.)

ertions of (Mrs, Brickells land
holdingsf . . . and krnowing thoet
the complainant iz an old worman
and a widow past four score years
of age and is not wise to all of the
tricks, turns and artifices of real
estate dealings and modern day
adventures . .

She has earned and paid for the
property, and . . . for about 50
long years, she has lived a pio-
neer life in South Florida, en-
dured the hardships and priva-
fions of such pioneer fife, and that
now in her old age and in good
conscience ghe-ought to be al-
lowed the peace and gquiet to én-
Jov the fruits of ker labors.™

Her attorneys published notice
of the suits in the Fort Lauderdale
Senfinel and the Miami Herald, as
permitted then by Florida law, with-
out actually serving process on the

defendants, who lived in the Florida |

Keye.™ OF the three Brickell suits
filed, Norton's attorneys defended
only the two cases in Dade County.
Perhaps they never knew about the
Broward County case. In any event,

hased on Mra. Brickell's affidavit at- | had already ruled, so this new groap

testing to her apparent swnership
and longtime possession (*[1 took]

possession by my agents and mem- |

bers of my family who lived thereon;
I cleared the land, cultivated a por-
tion, built houses, grew fruit, used it
for timber and building material™),
and on extensive investigation by a
court-appointed master, Judges E. C.
Davis, ruling on the Frankee and
Polly Lewis Donations, and Pierre
Branning, ruling on the Jonathan
Lewis Donation, entered judgments
quieting title in Mary Brickell's
name.™ Unfortunately for the pio-
neer landowner, she did not live to
hear the result of her protracted court
battles. She died on January 13,
1g22™=

The Appearance of the
Brooker Lewises

The saga of the Lewis family
took its most bizarre turn in October
1820, when twelve Floridians repre-
sented by attorney . E. MeCaskill
of Miami sought to intervene in Lewis
Norton's lawsuit,™ Judge Branning

of Lewises--who eventually would
claim that Morton's Lewises were
impostors and no relation to
Jonathan Lewis--were ignored.
Newspaper accounts of Mary
Brickell's posthumous court victories
over Norton in 1921 and 1922 made
no mention of the second group of
Lewises,™ But the newcomers began
to collect deeds from their own fam-
ily members, adopting the same strat-
egy used unsuccessfully by Norton,
and thus defended or initiated a se-
ries of suits which would last more
than forty yvears, based on a myth
which has come to be accepted as fact
by their descendants today: that they
areé the real heirs of Jonathan
Lewia.™

They were descendants of Dr.
Robert Lewis, who died in Brooker,
Florida, in 1880." Two of Dr. Lewis'
older children, George C. and Rich-
ard F.,, had come to Florida as chil-
dren during their father’s military
service with Colonel Zachary Taylor's
First Infantry Regiment, and had
lived for several vears in Fort Brooke,

near Tampa.® By 1850, George C., a
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Mexican War veteran, was living in
the Sailor’s Boarding House in Key
West® He may have known George
Lewis of Miami, who, as a comptie
farmer and boat owner, must have
traveled periodically to Key West.
The Key West descendants of Dr.
Robert Lewis, knowing that Dr.
Lewis had been a Florida pioneer,
were easily led to believe that the
“other” Lewis litigants must be dis-
tant cousing, or even impostors,™
George C. Lewis was long dead, hav-
ing passed away in 1906; his stories
of the native south Florida comptie
farmer George Lewis who he had
apparently known in his youth some-
how became transmuted into a tale
that George C. was himself a descen-
dant of the first Cape Florida settlers.
From conversations with grand-
children of Dr. Lewis--principally
Thomas J. Lewis of Miami, Richard
F. Lewis of Arcadia, and Robert J.
Lewis of Key West--the lawyer
MeCaskill developed the theory that
Dr. Lewis' name may have been
George Robert Lewia, and that
Jonathan Lewis must have been his
father or grandfather®™ This would
give all of Dr. Lewis’ descendants the
right to claim a share of title to the
three donations, as well as two other
parcels identified with George Lewis:
the forty acres in Rivermont Subdi-
vision which George Lewis had pur-
chaged in 1860 from George Ferguson
and the 639 acres of land in Harris
County, Texas. Unfortunately for
McCaskill's clients, to award the
lands to them would ultimataly come
to depend on a judge ignoring the
Florida Supreme Court's 1922 ruling
in favor of Mary Brickell’s heirs and
grantees whose chain of title
gtretched back over 100 vears.
Instead of filing suits, attorney
MeCaskill prepared an impressive
family tree, purporting to show the
relationships, and he traveled the
state, taking statements from Dr
Lewig’ surviving grandchildren and
collecting contributions toward the
cost of the inevitable suit to claim title
to some of Miami's most valuable
land.* The suit was never filed, prob-
ably because Mary Brickell had sued
first, clearing title to the Jonathan,
Polly, and Frankee Lewis Donations
in the 1921 auits, and because of the

Bupreme Court’s decision in the
Morton suits in 1922, Perhaps Dr
Lewis' heirs' lawvers were hesitant
to recommend clouding title to such
large parcels, in the face of the
Brickell heirs' greater capacity to fi-
nance expensive litigation.

After the tardy, and unsuccess-
ful, attempt to intervene in the
Morton ve. Jones case, MoCaskill
miust have advised his clients to turn
their attention to the forty acres in
Rivermont Subdivision, which had
not yet been the subject of any litiga-
tion. Owners of Lot 8, Woodson and
Jeanette White, represented by
Mitchell Price of Price, Price, Neely
& Kehoe, had filed a guiet-title suit
against the *known and unknown
heirs of George Lewis” in January
1921, and one J. E. Wilson, the owner
of Lot 2, filed a similar suit in Febru-
ary.® Both actions were attempts to
assure that John L. Jones, the com-
mon souree of title, had received good
title in 1900, MeCaskill rushed to
represent the "unknown heirs™ of
George Lewig™ The suits were di-
gasters for the “Brooker Lewises,”
gince the court decided that all Le-
wiges had lost their claims on both
properties, The court files have long
ago been destroyed, and the portions
of the files still in Lewis family mem-
bers’ hands do not reveal the cause
of the loss.

There was one startling success
for the Brooker Lewises during the
White vs. Lewis round of litigation.
A pioneer was located who had
known both George Lewis
{Jonathan's son) of Miami and George
C. Lewis (Dr. Lewis'son) of Key West.
Obediah Hall had lived in Key West
gince the 1870s. Before that, he and
his family had lived on the Miami
ERiver continuously since 1862, except
for a short period during the Civil
War when the family had removed
to New River.®™ MeCaskill tried to
impress upon his clients, in advance
of Hall's testimony, what he would
like to hear:

Perhaps Mr. Hall heard
Creorge C. Lewis or George Lewis
IT make statements hefore their
death that they were decendants
[sic.) of Robert Lewis and his fa-
ther George Lewis. It iz just such

testimony as this that we want,™
Hall testified onAugust 2, 1921:

Well, I'll tell you, along in
62 we were here in Key West and
went up looking for a place to lo-
cale, wend down along shore look-
ing for a place to raise garden
stufl, wend up to Miomi and fell
in with this man, George Lewis,
he was a prefty clever sort of fel-
low, ke took ws in there, [wel
stayed there for probably a month
and ke told us about his family
here, George Lewis and his fam-
Hy and requested us to bring some
stuff down here to his people, it
beimg war time and e maoll and
no boats running and said he
would like to get some prodiuce
down here to them and get stuff
back.

I heard him and my father
speaking of Jonathan Lewis as
being kis father,

[By McCaskill:] Did you
hear this George Lewis you Enew
in Migmi say that the George
Lewis urho lived in Key West was
his grandson, anything fo that
effect?

[By Hall:] ...I think he said
grandson, I am sure he did ™

Hall went on to explain that
Lewis sent the Halls back to Key West
with pumpking and comptie starch,
which they delivered directly to
George Lewis of Key West. When
Hall and his father returned to Mi-
ami a year or two later to cut wood
under a government contract, they
went to Lewis’ home, but he was
gone. They never heard of George
Lewis again. Hall became a close
friend of Key West's George C. Lewis
over the vears, but that Lewis never
mentioned the Miamian who bore the
game name.*

What Obediah Hall's testimony
lacked in eredibility, it made up for
in endurance; the transeript has been
saved. However, one must be suspi-
cious about why McCaskill did not
take testimony of other first-hand
witnesses, including Frances Cor-
nish, BenjaminAlonzo Baker, or even
Mr. Hall's aged mother. Certainly
family members worked hard at de-

veloping the necessary genealogical



proof, but they were never able to
document the final connection be-
tween Jonathan Lewis and Dr. Rob-
ert Lewis.” They ultimately dis-
charged their lawvers, charging that
MeCaskill had lost the Wilson suit by
failing to appear at a hearing.™

Among the descendants of Dr.
Robert Lewis, interest flagged, but at
least four of them pressed on. The
lot fell increasingly to one great-
grandson, Robert J. “Bobby” Lewis,
to lead the fight, and he spent the
last sixty years of his life trying to
vindicate the family claim. From the
beginning, Bobby'a efforts were ham-
pered by his having many relatives
who were anxious to testify but not
anxious enough to contribute funds.
None of Dr. Lewis’ grandchildren
eould testify with certainty who their
great-grandparents were, but several
of them tried anyway, leading Bobby
Lewis to collect an increasingly in-
consistent penealogical trail. Mean-
while, Bobby's brother-in-law Holand
Weatherford was responsible for rais-
ing monetary contributions from fam-
ily members to sustain MeCaskill and
other lawyers. Frustration ran high,
and the efforts of the lawyers foun-
dered partly because of the difficul-
ties of dealing with Bobby Lewis and
Roland Weatherford, who often
worked at crogg-purposes from the
attorneys.™

Two vears after MeCaskill was
discharged from the Woodson White
suit, it remained undecided by the
court. Bobby Lewis sought to reopen
the investigation and the lawsuit in
1925. He solicited the firm of Brown
& Stokes in Miami, but J. P Stokes
turned him down after reviewing the
Florida Supreme Court's decizgion in
the 1921 Norton vs. Jones case™
Lewis" frustration must have
mounted when, in 1925, land values
in south Florida began to rise rap-
idly. During the great *Florida land
boom,"” the Brooker Lewises sought
to protect their *inheritance™ by re-
cording numerous “quit-claim deeds™
to the entire Jonathan and Polly
Lewis Donations. ™

When the family hired lawyer
J. L. Frazee of Starke to reactivate
their defense of the dormant Woodson
White case in 1926, he advised the
Lewises to press for a quick and com-

At right is attorney
G. E. McCaskill, who

ned the case on
behalf of the
"Brooker Lewises"
{courtesy of Histori-
cal Association of
SBouthern Florida),
and below is Robert
. "Bobby" Lewis,
who pursued the
case for forty years
(courtesy of Edward
Lewia).




16 — Browgrd Legocy

dJudge Paul Barns
{Courtesy of Historical Associa-
tion of Southern Florida).

prehensive settlement with the
Brickell family while at least some of
the acreage remained undeveloped,
&0 that the Brickells' adverse posses-
sion defense-used with some success
in the earlier litigation-—-would not
bar the Lewis title. H. Pierre
Branning, by then the Brickell fam-
ily attorney, initially told Frazee that
he would recommend a settlement,
but later informed him--unfortu-
nately for the Lewises--that the
Brickells were not interested in dis-
cussing any kind of settlement.™
During the boom, a land devel-
oper, East Shenandoah Company,
purchased ninety-five acres of land
from the Mary Brickell estate, in
“The Roads™ section of Miami, on the
Jonathan Lewis Donation. To clear
the recent quit-claim deeds from title,
it filed suit agminst Dr. Robert Lewis'
family.” These were “wild deeds,”
gince the grantors were not the
record title holders, and in smaller
transactions during those heady days
of high leverage and fast turnover,
title examiners might have chosen to
risk ignoring them. But this was not
the case when ninety-five acres was
involved. In the East Shenandoah
guit, the Lewises accepted a "substan-
tial settlement® from the plaintiff,
and in return filed a pleading con-
fessing the plaintiff's complaint and
consenting “to any decree which may
be entered in said cause which may
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Governor Doyle Carlton's response to
Bobby Lewis' plea for intervention.

be deemed...proper in the opinion of
the.. Honorable Court....™
Unexpectedly, Judge Faul
Barns went beyond the ninety-five
acres in question, cancelled all the
wild deeds, and entered a permanent
injunction against any further activ-
ity of that sort by the Lewises.® Only
the judgment survives from the court
file, but we can surmise that Judge
Barns was aware that a similar elaim
had been made unsuccessfully by
other Lewis descendants before the
Florida Supreme Court. Years later,
one of the litigants claimed that the
Lewizses had already concluded the
settlement with East Shenandoah
Company by delivering a deed to the
plaintiff before Judge Barns issued
his ruling, and that the Lewises had
confessed judgment based on poor
advice from their lawyer, never real-

izing that their desds to more than
1,000 acres might be affected.™

The litigants probably never
knew of Barns' elose connection with
the Brickell family, who would ben-
efit the most from the unexpectedly
expanded language in the order. It
had been Barns who first informed
William Brickell, Jr. of the deaths of
his brother Charles C, Brickell and
his sister Alice in 1924, and his law
firm handled the probate of Charlie
Brickell's estate. ™

Bobby Lewis, in his notes from
a draft response to a 1962 suit, de-
geribed his family's reaction to the
Barns decision:

Shortly after the decision in
the case, legal assistance was se-
cured, a thorough review of all
evidence relating to fitle was

made, and a case prepared when
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the lmwyer involved died under
mogt peculiar circumasatances.
Following that, one law firm af-
fer another was inferviewed.
Some had reasonable excuses for
not taking the case but obviously,
most feared the threat of con-
tempe '™

In deaperation, Bobby Lewis
wrote to Governor Dovle Carlton, to
whom he had spoken during a cam-
paign trip to Key West in 19258,'9 And
in 1831, Lewis contacted the Span-
ish embassy in Washington, D.C.,
asking for official recognition of his
family’s elaim.'™

Because of the deeds, the Lew-
ises were named as defendants in
several foreclosure suits, in 1931 and
1832, J, F. Busto, a Key West law-
yer, defended both cases for the Le-
wises, but he most vigorously de-
fended the second case, Passumpsic
Savings Bank vs. Simmonite, since
it involved lands in the Rivermont
Subdivision which had not been the
subject of any previous suit. These
efforts were to no avail; Judge Uly
0. Thompson affirmed the report of
special master J. C. Morcock in that
case, in a January 1933 ruling that
the Lewis title was inferior to that of
the plaintiff, 1%

In 1933, Bobby Lewis--through
attorney J, ¥, Porter of Key West-
retained Paul M. Marks of Miami,
who arranged a settlement of $100
with the liquidator of Dade County
Security Co. on Tract 6, Rivermont,
for a quit-claim deed, but after nine
months, Lewis had still not accepted
the settlement. Marks advised Lewis
that he could expect to receive no
more than fifty dollars per lot in
settlement of a contemplated suit on
all of Rivermont, posting the odds at
"less than fifty-fifty ™

Bobby Lewis, & Key West native
who spent most of his life as a city
and county emplovee, continued to
collect documents and clip newspa-
per stories on the development of the
Brickell Avenue area.'™ During the
mid-1950s, the rows of mansions be-
gan to give way to commercial devel-
opment: a Holiday Inn, shops, sev-
eral churches, a grand entrance to
the new Rickenbacker Causeway,
and--on property donated to the

Catholic Diocese of St. Augustine by
the heirs of James Deering—the vast
Mercy Hospital/LaSalle High School
complex, Bobby wrote to his cousin
Tom Lewis in Miami, when a new
subdivision was being developed in
1954, asking whether an old house
recently uncovered by workmen was
the same house where Tom had, as a
baoy, claimed to have discovered an old
diary listing the names of the Lewis
heirs."™ In 1953, Bobby Lewis tried
to enlist a young Miami lawyer
named Sidney Aronovitz, who re-
jected the case “without giving
[Bobby] a chance to explain any-

| thing,” but who later heard the per-

gigtent Lewis' story and then rejected
the case again.’?

Judge Barns, ultimately elected
to the Florida Supreme Court, retined
in 1849, and in July, 1954, Bobby or-
dered certified copies of much of the
East Shenandoah court file from the
clerk.™ He purchased an abstract of
part of the Jonathan Lewis Donation,
and he wrote to Tom that “the pot was
coming to a boil....We hope that ev-
erything is shaping up to a point
where some definite action may soon
be started.™"

After Miami attorney Charles
Crowder rejected the case, Lewis
hired Oliver W. Folmar of Tavernier,
who reviewed courthouse files so old
he had to “blow off the dust.”
Folmar's miggion was to discover
whether James Deering had paid all
the taxes through the vears on his
property, but he never explained why
he believed the nonpayment of these
taxes would benefit the Lewis
claim,™

In any event, Folmar had the
East Shenandoah court file reopened
in 1957. His petition noted that East
Shenandeah Company had been dis-
golved in 1936, and concluded that

no one need be informed of the re- |

opening of the suit."* Circuit Judge
George Holt agreed to modify the
1929 judgment so that it would only
apply to the ninety-five acres at is-
sue in the original suit.™ Only Bobby
Lewis knew of the 1957 order, but he
soon made much use of the order,
which he later claimed vindicated his
family's title to the Jonathan and
Folly Lewis Donations.

Lewis convinced Fort Louder-

dale News columnist Wesley Stout,
who had written many pieces on lo-
cal history, to feature the Lewis story
in a five-part series in 1958. Stout
had been the first writer to bring the
story of Fort Lauderdale's earliest
settlers to a broad audience when he
publicized a 1952 historical journal
article on the 1793 Spanish investi-
gation of the Lewises. " After run-
ning the 1958 series, the columnist
“chortled” privately to Bobby Lewis
ot Miami Herald columnist Mike
Morgan's “statement that no one
knows who the Lewises and Hagans
were of where they lived”™ as "typi-
cally Miamian ignorance of their own
history"47 In fact, Stowt had accepted
Bobby Lewis” word as to the whole
story, so the articles are filled with
inaccuracies,

By 1959, Bobby, his wife, and
nine other investors had formed a
company, Lewis Properties, Inc., and
transferred into the corporation all
the interesta which they had pur-
chased from family members during
the 19208."* The officers of Lewis
Properties, Inc. often flirted with the
idea of filing a quiet title suit them-
gelves. Miami attorneys Bruce
Barfield and D. Joseph Snyder ten-
tatively agreed to file suit for a $1,000
fee and one-third of any recovery, but
after reviewing a written title opin-
ion they declined the case."® After

Fort Lauderdale Daily News col-
umnist Wesley Stout (courtesy of
Fort Lauderdale Historical Soci-
ety).
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this rejection, Lewis returned to his
traditional defensive stance,'®

In February 1961, Lewis Prop-
erties’ board of directors voted to is-
gue deeds to certain of Bobby Lewis'
*friends in Key West,” suhject to an
unrecorded contract to be signed by
each of the grantees who received a
deed. The contract provided that a
lot in the Jonathan Lewis or Polly
Lewis Donation was being deeded to
the grantee for a *nominal consider-
ation,” and that the grantee must
promptly record the deed and try to
sell the property and aplit the net
profits with Lewis Properties. If the
parcel was atill unsold after six
months, the grantee must return it
to Lewis Properties. And the grantes
was required to pay all legal expenses
of defending title, without any re-
course against the company. Appar-
ently no one was willing to sign the
contract, but deeds were issued none-
theless to the corporate officers and
others, 18

In 1961, Lewis Properties, Inc.
and at least one of its grantees be-
gan payving the taxes on two vacant
lots on Brickell Avenue ostensibly
owned by Brickell family members.'™=
A local real estate developer became
interested in the pattern of deeds
beginning to appear at the Dade
County Courthouse and offered to
have his attorney offer an informal
opinion on title. According to Lewis,
the lawyer, Mr. Dixon, “said in effect
that he knew from his study that the
Brickells had stolen the twoe Lewis
sections but that he didn't believe a
case could be won and that he wanted
nothing to do with it.” Bobby Lewis
thanked him for his time, but wrote
that *among loecal lawyers it was sac-
rilege to say or do anything detrimen-
tal to the names of Flagler, Brickell,
and Tuttle.” He issued four more
deeds in October, '

In November 1961, Mr. and
Mrs. George Karnegis, owners of a
lot on the bay just north of the
Rickenbacker Causeway entrance,
applied to the City of Miami and to
the Trustees of the Internal Improve-
ment Fund to bulkhead and fill a few
thousand square feet of bayfront in
order to build efficiency apartments
on their property. Two representa-
tives of Lewis Properties appeared at

the public meetings and opposed any
decision being made until title to the
property was determined between the
Karnegises and the Lewises' grantes,
Mrs. Ralph Spaulding.'*

The next day, B. F. Hendricks,
of Hendricks & Hendricks, on behalf
of the Karnegises, demanded that
Mrs. Spaulding quit-claim her inter-
gst, and warned that he had advised
the Brickell family lawyer to be on
guard against the Lewises’ “attempt
to cloud the title® to nearby proper-
ties, At the reconvened Planning
Board meeting on December 8, Mi-
ami Mayor Robert King High prom-
ised that no action would be taken on
the bayfront fill request until the
Karnegises produced satisfactory
proof of ownership.'#

Thus were the battle lines fi-
nally drawn between the Lewis grant-
ees and the Brickell grantees. Soon
afterward, Alfred Aronovite, of
Aronovitz, Aronovitz & Haverfield,
made a quit-cliam demand on behalf
of Brickell Mansions, Ine., directed to
Lewis grantees Hollon Bervaldi and
Gerald Orvall Dunn. J, Y, Porter of
Lewis Properties responded by invit-
ing Aronovitz to file suit.'"™ In May
1962, after contacting vet another
lawyer, Oscar Rappaport, who de-
clined the engagement, the afficers of
Lewis Propertics determined to draw
the Brickells into a fight by giving
warranty deeds--warranting good
title to each parcel they sold. "™

Peter Sanders, the stepson of
George M. Brickell, the last surviv-
ing son of the pioneer family, mort-
gaged four lots owned by him but
claimed also by the Lewises. His
lender insisted that the title be
cleared, so Sanders asked Bobby
Lewis to name his price. ‘Thus con-
fronted directly for the first time by a
Brickell, Bobby sought advice on how
to respond to the family on whom he
had placed a century of blame.

Joe Milner, whose wife was a
director of Lewis Properties, warned
Bobby not to treat Sanders sympa-
thetically:

If you quit claim, you will be
going back to what i was, No
Rightful Choner, as Yol are RO,
and the Letvis Properiies, Ine, will
be owt of Luck For Good, Can you

see what they are trying to do; talk
to Capt, Spaulding and he will
tell vou the same thing I'm say-
ing. =
The Karnegises filed suit
against the Lewis interests in Sep-
tember 1962, and the Lewises re-
tained Saul T. Von Zamft under a
$500 retainer to oppose Ben
Hendricks, counsel for the
Karnegises., Circuit JudgeA. Patrick
Cannon denied the defendants’ mo-
tion to change venue to Key West,
Meanwhile, a neighboring property
owner, Harold E, Davig, represented
by lawyer Jackson Peters, paid $500
to Lewis Properties, Inc. for a quit
claim deed to four lots, after first fil-
ing, then dropping, a suit. Bobby
Lewis warned Peters that he would
take the case to the Supreme Court
if necessary to vindicate the family
claim, but Lewis also told Folmar that
Peters had come to Captain
Spaulding’s house and threatened to
*hang him by the toes" if Lewis Prop-
erties did not give him a quit claim
deed.'®
About this time, Bobby Lewis
began using code names in some of
his correspondence with city and
county officials who insisted on send-
ing him refunds when both the
Brickell interests and the Lewis in-
terests paid the taxes on the same
parcel. Bobby was the "Short
Ranger,” and one of his "operatives”
in Miami was the "Lone Ranger." And
Lewis' suspicion of all lawyers, even
his own, grew more evident with each
letter, 1=
Peter Sanders, the Brickell step-
son, sued Lewis inApril 1963 to quiet
title to land long owned by the
Brickell family, land sold also by
Lewis Properties to former Monroe
County Juvenile Court Judge Eva
Warner Gibson, and also to eradicate
the Lewis claims to all of the
Jonathan and Polly Lewis Dona-
tions.” Bobby Lewis told the Key
West Cifizen the next month that he
had received several cash offers from
other property owners, and was *not
a bit worried” about the Sanders law-
suit. “After all,” he stated, *T have a
legal decision to back me up.™*®
The first result of the publicity
surrcunding the lawsuit was a novel



solicitation by reporter Miller Davis
of the Miami News, Davis offered
Lewis one dollar for a deed to the
Rickenbacker Causeway tollbooths,
with a reverter clause effective after
one week, with the expectation of
generating “hilarious confusion”®
among Dade County officials.' Ina
hastily called meeting of Lewis Prop-
erties, Inc., the directors wrestled
with Von Zamft's insistence that he
be paid at an hourly rate or fixed rate
instead of a contingency fee. Said one
director, “If you're so set on the money
angle you must not be sure of win-
ning.” Finally they agreed to pay the
lawyer $500 immediately, another
$600 in thirty days, and thereafter
on Yon Zamft's terms which “will be
satisfactory to us ™™

The rush of publicity
emboldened Bobby Lewis. Ina June
interview with the Key West Gazette,
he railed against the *power of money
against poverty," by which the
Brickells had kept the Lewis descen-
dants from their birthright for gen-
erations, and he made a magnani-
mous offer; “Lewis Properties, Inc.
will give clear title to Mayor High for
the City Hall property on Flagler
Street [should be Bayshore Drive)
and clear title will also be given to
the Academy of the Assumption and
Mercy Hospital insofar as their prop-
erties are in the Jonathan and Polly
Lewis Donations or the George Lewis
property.'®

Judge James Kehoe, after sev-
eral praliminary hearings, heard the
relative merits of the Sanders case
on December 4, 1963, Oliver Folmar
was not present, but Von Zamft pre-
sented Bobby Lewis anid Eva Warner
Gibson as witnesses. The result was
the crowning blow to Lewis’ career
as a litigant. Judge Kehoe ruled that
Polly and Mary Lewis were the same
person, that Judge Branning’s deci-
sion in favor of Mary Brickell in 1922
had foreclosed all Lewis interests,
and that the Lewises had waived
their rights to make a claim by fail-
ing to prosecute their claim in the
courts, He struck all twenty-three
deeds recorded by Bobby Lewis and
his company since 1930, and prohib-
ited any further recordation of deeds
or prosecution of lawsuits, ™

To the newspapers, Lewis de-

dJudge James W. Kehoe
{(Courtesy of Dade County Bar
Association,)

scribed the Kehoe ruling as “a sur-
prise to me,” but privately he blamed
his vwn lawyers and the “great in-
fluence” of Sanders' attorney, A. C.
Dressler."™ Lewis Properties dis-
charged Von Zamft, and sought to
retain Joseph Jennings of the Dixon
DeJarnette law firm, one of Miami's
largest, to appeal Kehoe's decision to
the District Court of Appeals. Appar-
ently in view of Jennings’ require-
ment of an immediate 5500 fee de-
posit and the impending deadline of
the appeal, Lewis hired Manuel Zaiac
ingtead, Zaiac’s agreed-upon fee was
2350 for the preliminary research,
and 32,500 to be paid during the
course of the appeal, plus a twenty-
five pereent contingent fee, Zaiac in
turn retained Harry B, Smith to of
fer an expert opinion on the case,

In May 1964, the first $1,000
installment of Zaisc’s $2,600 fee came
due, Lewis tried to make a settle-
ment with the Karnegises, whose suit
lay inactive after nearly two years,
in order to raise the monies, but with-
out success.'™® By June, Zaiac had
still not been paid, and so had not
filed the appellants’ brief. The ap-
peal was dismissed June 11, 1964
under a rule dealing with frivolous
appeals.'®

Lewis Properties discharged
Zaiac (Smith having already with-

A

Attorney Saul YVon Zamft
(Courtesy of Dade County Bar
Association.)

drawn from the case), and hired Jo-
seph Jennings for $500 to seek a re-
hearing.'™ In August the appellate
court denied rehearing. Bobby Lewis
then asked Jennings to file a petition
for a writ of certiorari to the Florida
Supreme Court, offering a fifty per-
cent contingency fee for the service,
but Jennings declined, citing the low
likelihood of success, '

The Dade County Bar Associa-
tion was unable to place Lewis with
a substitute attorney on contingent
fee terms. Just before the final dead-
line for secking certiorari, Bobby
Lewis made a last-ditch offer to re-

| tain Jennings, offering him an as-

signment of the §1,900 in tax refunds
to which Lewis Properties would be
entitled for having wrongiully paid
taxes on several Brickell parcels,
Jennings, once again, declined. '

For several years afterward,
Lewis continued to try to interest
Miami lawyers in the wreckage of the
cases, Anthony Capodilupe turned
it down. 3o did Dan G. Wheeler, Jr.
Even a young civil rights lawyer,
Jegse MceCrary, rejected the engage-
ment in 1967.'9 Bobby Lewis finally
surrendered, forty-six vears after he
began, and 174 years after the boy
Jonathan Lewis was first known to
b living on the family lands.

Title examiners today routinely
issue title insurance to property own-
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ers in Miama, ignoring Bobby Lewis®
wild deeds. The Lewis claims have
been all but forgotten.

Bobby Lewis died in 1980 at the

age of eighty-six, without realizing
his dream of establishing his family’s
place in south Florida history or its
ownership of much of modern-day
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terview with Merning Jehneon Jomes),

37. Richarda, “Reminiscences”

3B, Brown, Florida's Pecce River Fronter, 285,
404; WilliamA, Jebhnson and wife todohn L.
Jonea, Augast 14, 1888, deed ta SE 104, BW
1M, Sec. 35, T365., R41E, recorded Octo-
ber 21, 1850 in Dade County Deed Book T,
372 Alss pame parties, desd dated March
A0, 1904, recorded Junes 6§, 1804, Dade
County Desd Book 16, 436. County recorda
are incoenplote a8 to who wna paying the real
property taxes nfter Lawis disap-
peared, bait by 16911 the property was baing
paspesed to “A. M. Ferguscn nnd Alonzo
Baker, agent for the estate HGHA'F Lawis,”™
Assgsament Book, 1551, DOCA; see also
John T, Peacock, Tax Collection Book, 1850-
%2, HASF, M8 Bax 27. John L. Jomes ro-
deemed the forty acres from o tax certifi-
cate ismased in 1697, Dade County Desd Back
X, 85. Genenlogical information taken from
Marion e Janes, B3 Florida Reports 81, 30
Southern Reporter, B4 (1922),

9. P Malindn Baker and others to John L.
Jones, March 21, 15900, deed 1o 5E 104, W
14§, Bec. 36, T.533., RAIE., Dade County
Deed Book 8, 200 irecorded &p:ril 16, 1803)
and Deed Bock 9, 298 (recorded June &,
1904} Jonos, jeined by & fellow DeSoto
Coantian, John Deuglas, sold the paree] to
Marian D Tift for $4,600 cn March 6, 1904
(Deed recorded July 8, 1804, Dade Coanty
Dead Book 16, 4790, but nok bafors William
M. Johinscn had firat saed, then settled with,
John Douglas and others to clear Litle.
Johnson vs, Dougles, Cirealt Ceurt, Dade
County, Chancery, Cnse #4682, Chancery
Docket Book 8, 318, Chancery Order Bock
169, 7.

40. Ihid; Pint, Dade County Plat Book B, 95.

41. Same deeds as in notes 38 and 39 above,
but recorded April 24, 1903, in Harris
County, Thxas, Doed Book 151, 167,

4. Sam H. Benbow to Robert J. Leawis, Juna 3,
1924, RILE

43, Abatracts of Title, Mre. Hagan Donation,
Frankes Lawis Donation, Jonathan Lewia
Denaation.

44, Final Decree, Brickell e Chirch, July T,
1882, Dade County Chancery Order Boolk
A, 18, 33, Revised Decres (anme suit], Sop-
tember 168, 1893, Dade County Chanoery
Crrder Book; Finnl Decres, Brickel! vz, Ea-
giieh, May 19, 16838, Dade County Chancery
Orrder Book A, 1 (volding mortgnge recorded
in Monroe County Deed Book C, 248; Ab-

stract of Title, Mra. Hagan Donation, 3;
Dead, J, W, Hagnn to Sara G. Glenson, July
5, 1873, Dade County Deed Book A, 8%;
Dheeed, Mancy B, Highy to Sarn &. Glenson,
Dade County Dieed Book A, 84,

45. Mary Brickell to General Land Office, Agpril
23, 1888 and J_A. McCrory to General Lasd
Office, September 30, 1861, NAGLO,
Floridn Private Land Claim File No. 253
{Pally Lewis Donaticnl; J. A MeCrory to
General Land Office, April 16, 1888,
MA-GLO, Florida Private Land Claim File
M, 353 (Jonathan Lewia Denation’; Mary
Brickell to General Land Oifice, May 28,
1868, WAGLO, Flerids Private Land Cloim
Fils Mo. 243 (Frankes Lewis Deaation),

46. Mra, Brickell's lawyers' botters to the Gen-
ern] Land Office reflected increasing anxk-
ety with the gevernment’s glow pace as the
railrond’s anticipated arrival sparked a land
boom. “This property ks bacening extromaly
valuahle,” (January 11, 1886), ‘..-u.lr:nd.]
platted into a town site in which the Florida
Enst Conat Railway is interested,” (Fakma-
ary 21, 1686}, both quotes from Robbina &
Graham Co. to General Land Office,
MAGLOD, Floridn Private Land Claim File
Noa, 252, 253,

47, Affidavit of Willinm and Mary Brickell,
Augast 208, 1895, NAGLO, Florida Private
Land Claim File Ko, 253; Patent Certificntes
Mom, 44 (Polly Lewis) and 45 (Jonathan
Lewin), October 10, 1695, ULE, Land Offlcs,
Gaineavilla, Florida; Lotters of Patent,
Mnrch 21, 1886, U.S. General Land Crifleae,
Patent Records, Misc, Vol 481, 581-586
{Polly Lewis) and 586-580 (Jonathan Lewial
I fpril 1696, thess patenta were delivered
to the Land Office at Gainesville, which was
expicted to retain A file abowing to whom
the original was given and of what evidenss
the claimant was enkitled to the original, but
by 1927 the Gaineaville filea had been loat.
Thomas Havell to Robert J. Lewis, Movem-
ber 3, 1927, RILE Mra. Brickell first plat-
ted the Jonathan Lewis Donation in Janu-
ary 1854 (Dnde County Plat BookA, 20, but
did not plat any portion of the Pally Lewia
Denation until 1903 (Plat Book B, T4).

48, Henry C. Dane to Commissioner of Public
Lands, May 10, 1670, in MAGLO, Floridna
Private Land Claim File 243, copy on file at
BCHLC.

49 Depoaithons in Fed Perpetaum, Jarwnry 18.
31, 1856, Matter of Oremership and Posses-
sion of Mary Brickell, stc., Dade County
Deed Baock G, 144, 188,

B0, Affidavita of B Malinda Baker, both dated
MNovember 14, 1896, recorded Janaary 35,
1857, Dade County Deed Book O, 457, and
Jangary 16, 1857, Dade County Misc. Bock
1,274,

51. Depeattions in Rei Perpetuusn, ses nota 49,

52 Anotice of tax deed sale, Februnry 24, 1870,
in Willinm Gleason Papers, Box |, "Corres
spondence 1870-71,° PE Yooge Library;
BJLFAbsaract of Jonathan Lewis Donation:
Tax Dead to William H. Hont, Novembar 16,
1576, recorded Augpest 7, 1852, Dade County
Deed BookA, 211 (Frankee Lewis Donation)
and 213 (Jonathan Lewis Donation); Nothes
e Claimant of Intent to Take Depoaitions,
COhctober 25, 1805, Matter of Ownership and
Peasessbon of Mary Brickel], Dads County
Deed Book §, 123; Re Snyder: Henry C.

Diang to General Land Office, May 8, 1870,
Abgtract of Jonathan Lewis Donation: Affi-
davit of Buth Gerald and Christy Ann
Snyder. April 23, 1870,

4. Abstract of Jonathan Lewis Doaation: Afli-
davita of Morss, Ewan, Harner, O'Nedll,
Mareno, and Metinir; nlso, Abstract of Mra.
Hnagan Donation, Nea. 77, TH, 51,83, 88,94,

54, Grait Claism Desds, English heirs to Moy
Brickell, Abstrnct of Frankes Lewis Dona-
tion, nos. 16-19, and Abstract of Jonathan
Lawis Donation, no. 21; Bullard on
Lippman 32 Fla 481 (18930

56, Quit Claim Deeds, Snyder family members
to Mary Brickell, Dade Courty Deed Books
[Abstract of Frankes Lewis Demation]: May
5, 1898, Book R, 461, July 2, 1588, Book U,
&7, September 10, 1808, Book V., 3, Septem-
ber 14, 18588, Book Y, &; Inwoice, Robbine &
Graham Co., Brickell Family Remipia fils,
HASF, MS hox 26.

56. Hrickel! va Waddell, Judgment, Febraary
28, 1898, Dade County Chancery Order
Baok A4, 226,

57, Plat, July 13, 1903, Dade County Plat Book
B. T4. The Brickells had retained W. C. Val-
enting to aurvey the property as early as
1884, invosoe from W, C, Valentine, April 28,
1503, Brickell Family Receipts file, HASF,
mnnuscript box 38,

58, Staternent of Court, Lewis (7. Norton vs.
Morning Jones, Florida Supreme Cours,
June 1521 Term, Flosida State Archives,
Beries 48, Carton 2515, Additional informa-
tion on William Johneon and Frances
Cornigh's ehildron eomea from a genealogi-
cal chart compiled by Clawde C, Jones, in
the peasession of Clande C. Jones, Jr. of
Arendin,

58, Deeda from the following persona to Lewis
G, Morton, 1918, recorded in Dade and
Broward County Deed Booke: Benjamin A
Baker, Sr, William nnd Nellie B. Baker,
Lemuel A nnd Mamie Baker, Benjamin A
(Jr.) and Hattia Baker. Gertrude O. and
Jackson Lows, James A, Goald, Carl V. and
Hattie Baker, Panay L. and Herschel M,
Connor, Jesaie ¥ and Charles E, Duval,
Frances H, Cornish, Carmille and Lena Craz,
Florell nnd Vernon Griffin, William Cornlah,
George and Lizzie Cornlah, Hattie and Jo-
seph Saunders, and Lillian Knowles Sutton,
Morton probably discovered the possible
title claim while working as an abstractor
for the Diaede County Title Insuranoe Co., i,
1913. He lnter served in several positions
in the sounty court clerk's office and the tax
assesnor's aifles, but apparently lost his job
thi same year he loat his suit, in 1522 M-
ami City Directory, 1813, 1916, 1919-1922,
HASF.

&0, Coenplaint, Lewsie Norton pa. B, A Ameden,
July 18, 1920, quoted in Statement of Cowrt,
note B8 nbove; alss, Complaints, Morton oo
Jomes and Moriom o8, Johnson, both filed
Septamber 2, 1919,

&1. “Title to Lewin Tract Settled by High Coart,”
Miami Herald, January 28, 192, 1.

82, Minutes, East Florida Land Commission,
Movember 24, 1824 (presentation of Mary
Lawis), 273, Decomber 15, 1824 (memorial
of Mary Lewis), 274, December 23, 1825
{eonfirmation of Polly Lawial, all in Ameri-
exen Siade Fupﬂ-l.ﬁlhlin[.-nd.l.'l'ﬂ.l:m
Mary Lewis to Richard Fitzpatrick, May 28,
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1E32, Momres County Deed Book B, 42-45;
Putent, United States of America to Pally
Lewis, see note 4 7; Affidavit of Patience M.
Baker, ase note 50,

83, Lawe of Florida, ¢h. 1869, Sec. 5 (1872

G4. F. Botta to W, Hunt Harris, June 30, 1921,
RJILE

6. Jonathan's wife i& referred to as Ann on
deeds. Mary in referred to s “widew of
Willkam® kn an 1824 report, to the Board of
Land Commissioners for East Florida,
Florida Stale Archives, Series 000, Corton
ZL

&4, Order, Aupast 9, 1880, Norfon vs. Jones;
Decree, Norton ve Jonss, gooted in
Appellant's Brief, Mortom vs. Jones, Florida
Etate Archives, serbes 49, carton 3815,

47, Statement of Court, Morfon ve. Jores, B3
Fla. 81, 50 S0, 864, Florida Supreme Coart,
danaary 27, 19232,

68, A federal judge had ence before beld that
“Polly™ was synonymous with “Mary® in &
capn colpcidentally titled Lewis va.
Barkadale, 15 Fed. Crses 457, 88, 317 MWD,
Wi, 1831 Ibid., 90 5o, B54, at 863,

68, “Title to Lewis Trnct Sottled by High Court,®
Miami Herald, Jansary 28, 1922,

Th Wesloy Stout, “The Beachcomber.” Fort
Lauderdale Daily News, reprinted in Key
Wear Citieen, November 6, 1058, citing four
unnamed descendants in Key West,

T1. Brickell ve. Norfon, Case No. 422, Circuit
Court, 15th Judicinl Cirewit, Chancary, mi-
erafilin copy &t Broward County Courthouse
Archives; Brickell vs, Norfoa | Case Nos
4077 and 4973, Circuit Court, 11th Judicinl
Cireuit, Chaneery, ‘Thia file, like all pre-1971
chaneery coart files in Dade County, has
been destroyed. Only cowurt deckets, judg-
menta, and recorded orders nre proservsd,

T2 Affidevit of Mary Brickell in Brickell us.
Nortan {Brownrd County suit), see note 71.
The Maorton lawyers may hove known the
suit was coming, They wrote 1o the Gen-
eral Land Cffice wnmning that Mre. Brickall
would try to have the Lewis names on the
land patents changed to her name, General
Lard Oifice to Bogge & Caton, May 28, 1821,
NAGLO, Florida Private Land Claim File
No. 358,

T3, Decrees Pro Conlesan, Brickel] va. Marton,
July 12, 1921, Angust 15, 1921, and Segrtem-
ber &, 1921, sow note 71.

Td. Affidavit of Mnry Brickell, ses nate T2:
Decres, Oetober 20, 1921, Case No. 422
(Frankes Lewis Donation), Broward County
Chancery Order Book 3, 80; Decree, July
E8, 1922, Case Mo, 4977 (Jonathan Lewis
Denntion) ard Decres, November 18, 1522,
Case Na. 4979 (Polly Lewis Denation), Dade
Coumty Chancery Order Book 18, 333, None
of the testimony examined by the specinl
master has been pressrved. Judge Branning
Inter becamme an attorney for the Brickell
family, ses note 96,

6. As for Mra. Brickell's supposed “lack of so-
phistization® in real estate matters, she did
ned mention that she had just platted her
m;u.inlum-pu-uu on thie Frankes Lawia
Donation for development purposes, and
was negotiating to sell this “Rio Vieta Sub-
division® to developer C. J. Hector. Her
properties in Minmd, of course, had already
beon subdivided into several different real
esfate developments. Plat of Rio Viata, Oe-

tober 22, 1520, Broward County Flat Book
1, 18; Deed, Mary Brickell to C. J. Hector,
damenry 10, 1924, recorded in Broward
County Deed Book 38, 47; Plat of . J,
Hector's Subdivision, Broward County Plat
Book 1, 24.

76. Petition to Intervens, Nortom va Amaden,
Oetober 1920, BJLE

7. “Brickell Land Title Forever Guisted by
Cirewlt Cowrt,” Méami News, undated clip.
ping, ¢.1822; "Mrs. Brickel] Fights Attack
on Her Tile to Lewis Dooation,” undated
clipping, Miamd Herald, January 1932, btk
in RILE

TB. . E. McCnakill to Eoland Weatherford,
Movember 6, 1921, Rebert P and Harriet
Lewis to Roland Weatherford, October 30,
1922, Dade County Desd Book 314, 3532;
dohn nnd Allie Shriver to Richard Franklin
Lawia, Jr, Oclcber 21, 1922, Dade County
Dieed Book 311, 4043,

9. Dr. Robert Peyton Lewis, n Bradford
County picneer, was born in Kentucky in
1806, served s an army officer in Floridn
during the Second Seminale War (1836
1642), later studied medicine, and died in
Brooker, Florida, in 1880, The inforemation
o Dir. Lewis in this article was compiled by
Cal, Milten [, Weska of Fort Lauderdale, a
descendnant, to whom the swthor is desply
indebied for his assistance. It was Col.
Weeks, through interviews with Robert J,
Lavwis and a review of census and other
records, whe first proved that Dr. Lewia
couald not have been & descendnnt of south
Florida's first family,

0. Milton [r. Wealks, *Robert Peyton Lewia,®
unpublished manisseript in possession of the
authar.

81, Id.; DS Censas, Population Schedules,
Monroe County, Florida, 1850, 1880,

82, One of the Brooker Lewises, Robert J.
“Bobly™ Lewis, who maintained the family's
claim for many years, was related throagh
his mether s side to numerous Conch fami-
lies (including Johnsen, Hnowles, and
Pinder} who might have been related by
marringe W the Jenathan Lewis descen-
damia.

63, MeCaakill to Thomas J. Lewis, March 1,
1821, to Richard Franklin Lewis, March 11
and September 20, 1921, and to Raoland
‘Weatherford, July 22, 1921, RJLF

Bd. anﬁl:rlru-ud'nut.r_m'l-_r'lm undated,
in MeCaskill to Richard F. Lewin, April &,
1921, RILE

85. Complaint, Woodsom White et al, v, W A,
Jofnson, Case Mo, 4700, Circuit Court, 11th
dudicinl Cireoit (Dade County), Chancary,
RJILP; Complaint, J. E. Wilsor ve. Williom
H. Hunt, Case Mo, 4724, Circuit Court, 11th
Judicinl Cireoit (Dade County), Chansary,
final decree entered December 15, 1921,
RILE

H-QJLF See deeds described In notes 35 and

87. Teatimony of Obaediak Hall August 2, 1921,
White pe. Johason, 8§, RILE. For more in-
fermation en Hall, ses *Local History He-
lated by Deacendnnt of First White Woman
to Live in Miami,”Agnew Welsh clipping file,
MPL, in which Hall'a mother described 1ife
in south Florida during the 1860s.

838, G. E. McCaakill t» Roland Weatherford,
July 22, 1921, RILP,

B, Teatimony of Chbediah Hall, 8, RILF

&0, Ihid,

Bl. G. E. MeCaskill to Réchard F. Lewis, Sep-
tember 20, 1821

2, Hobert JJ. Lewis, undated note, o 1820s,
RILE

%3, J. L. Frazes to Robert J. Lewis, Moy 14,
Muy 18, October 24, 1927, RILE

&4, J. F Stokes to Capt. John J. Maber, Jany-
nry B, 1825, RJLE

85, Deeds recorded in Dade County, copies in
RJILF: J. B, and Mary Lewia Thomas to
Eddie J. Lawis, September 18, 1925, Deed
Bopk T8, 25; William and Anmie Lewis to
Haobort J. Lawis, Eep'numbﬂ- 5, 19258 Dweed
Book 904, §535; Roland and Mary L.
Weatherford to Willinm Lewis, November
18, 1925, Deed Book 912, 356: Raland and
Miry L. Weatherford to Fobert J. Lewia,
Auguat B8, 1926, Deed Beok 915, 281; Rich-
ard Franklin and Fanmie H. Lewin toAllis
Bhriver, Agril T, 1936, Deed Book 880, 273;
Hobert J. and Mary Lewis to Ben F. Gardner,
January 20, 1986, Desd ook 855, 246; Will
and Annie Lewis to Hobert J. Lewis, Febru-
ary 4, 1527, Deed Book 104%, 104,

5. J. F. Frazee to Robert J. Lewis, April 19,
1526, BJLE

87, Bill to Qhuiet Title, East Shenondoak Com-
pany pa, William Lewis ef ol Case No.
2204 76-B, Circuit Court, 11th Judicial Cir-
cuit (Dade County), Chancery, RILF

88, Finnl Decres, Easr Shenandoad Company
i, Fareai, danuary 29, 1828, RILE

%8, Mhig

10k, Anenymeous letter, August 1B, 1954, RILE:
Just six days after the judgment was &n-
tered, a Key West newspaper ran o story
stating that Rebert J. Lewis had just sold
the parcel to the East Shenandonh Coms
pany, See “Eatablighment of Land Claim by
Robart Lewis,” February 4, 1929, dipping
in HJLF

101. Telegrama, Augpast 4 and September 12,
1924, Brickell Personnl Correspondence,
1917-1933, HASF, M8 Box B; Thompaon,
Barns & Thempaon Acsount Book, Novem-
b 1824-March 1925, HAEF, Box MOSG,

10%, Robert J. Lewis notes, undated, ¢ 159608,
RJILE

103, G, Dq;rh E. Carlton to Robert J. Lewis,
Augast 16, 195, RILE

104. C. Caldera to Robert J. Lewin, June 30,
1631, Lewis to Caldera_July 3, 1931, RILE

108, Junkin & Avend, Ine ve, W H, Hung, ef
cl., Case Mo, 33585-D, Passumpsic Savings
Bank pa. George H. Simmonite, Case No.
34361, both in Cirenkt Couart, 11th Cireakt
{[Made Countyl, Chancery, copies in RILE

106, Pesapmpaic Sarings Bonk va, Simmanite,

LP

107, Paial Marks o Robert J. Lawis, October
13, 1933, RILE

lmﬁfwﬁpﬁpﬁlﬂ Eobert.J, Lewis,

108, Robert J, Lewis to Thomas Lewis, April
12, 1854, RILP

110, Mary Miner to Al February 7, 1954,
RJLE

111. Receipts, Dade County Clerk, July 25,
1954, RJLF

112. RobertJ, Lewis to Thommas J. Lewis, April
12, 19584, Floridn Title Company to R I
Spalding, December 12, 1067, RILP



113. Oliver W. Folmar to Bobert J. Lawis, Oe-
tober 20, 1956, RJLE

114. Petition to Vacate Part of Final Decree
and Corrective Order Mune Pro Tune, Exst
Shenendoah Co pa, Leads, April 23, 1957,
Circait Couart, 11th Judicinl Circuit (Dade
County), in Chaneery, RILE

115. Order Granting Defondanta’ Petition, ete,
East Shenandoak Co. pa Lewis, April B,
1967, recorded April 29, 1957, Circuit Court,
11th Judicin] Circuit (Dade County), in
Chaneery, RILE

116. Wesley W, Stout, *The Bescheomber,™ Fort
Lauderdale Daily News, June 29, 30, duly
1, 2,3, 1988; Murdech, *Decuments Con-
earning a Voyage to the Miami Region in
17a3.~

117, Wealey W, S2oat to Robert J. Lewin, March
2, 1989 BJLP

118. E. R. Sycks to Robert J, Lewis, November
B4, 1958, Mema from E. R Sveles, undated,
HJILE

118, D, Joseph Snyder to Robert J. Lewis, May
13, June T, 1960, Bruce Barfiald to Lewis
Properties, Ine., October 28, 1960, RJLE
The unsigned title opinicon concluded that
the 1922 decrees foreclosed any farther
claim by the Lewisea,

130, Ralph J. Spaabding to Oliver W. Folmar,
18&7 ("We think that a8 soon as Helt's deci-
#ion i6 reccorded the best thing is to pick out
some Brickell wild land, post i, and force
theeers b skart & suit. A modificntion would
ba o sell sorme wild land ander a warranty
deed and force the Estate te sae.”),
Spaulding to Marcus H. Roas, June 10, 1862,
an why not to poat “Mo Trespasslng” signs:
“This would bead to a court injunction in
which I would be the one to prove Lewia
elaima in their entirety which position 1
dem't like. It has always been the Lewia
problem to keep on the defensive.”), RILP,

121. Copiesof desds in RJLE See, for example,
wpecial warrnnty deeds from Lewia Proper-
ties, Ine, toJosephh. Boza, March 12, 18632
{unrecorded), Miriam C. Albary, March 12,
1862 (Dade County CLH. Book 3188, 47),
William and Marjorie Warner and Eva
Warner Gibson, January 10, 1962 (O.R.
Book 30TH, G200, At least one perscn de-
clined & deed: Allan B. Cleare, Jr., a lawryer
in Ky Weat, see Cleare to Robart.J. Lawis,
Ssptamber 12, 1962, RILP

122 J. Y Porter, IV to Minmi Tax Collector,

2, 1261, Tar Collector to Porter,
Anguat B, 1961, RJLE

1E3. Mark H. Hoss to Hobert J. Lewis,_ July 15,
16, 1961, Lawis MR:n,Au;ut 21,38 1981
“all Miami lawyers seem bound by some
onth mot to take any nction that will fopee
Brickal] into a sait."), September 30, Octo.
bar 22, 1861, BEJLE

124, Margaerite Spaulding to Miami Planning
Eonrd and to Trustees of the Internal Im-
provernent Fund, November 8, 1961, Power
of Atterney, Marguerite Spaulding to Joseph
Cabrern, November 15961, RILP. Agenda,
Miami Planning Bonrd, Movember 13, 1961,
copy in RJLE

125. Minutea, Minmi Planning Board Meeting,
Decamber B, 12681, RILP

125, B. E. Hendricks to Marguerite Spaulding,
November 18, 1861, Hendricks to J. . Por-
taer, IV, Movember 16, 1861, Alfred Aronowits
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s Porter, December 12, 1961, RILE

127. Robert J, Lawis o Marsas H. Boss, June
3, 7, 1962, Lewis to Oscar Rappaport, June
4, 1962, RILE

1268, Hobert J. Lewis to Mary Milner, July 23,
1962, Joo Milner to Lewla, July 37, 1962,
RILE

128 Saul T. Yon Zamft to Ralph Spaulding.
Cetober 11, 1962, Spaulding to Von Zamil
and Oliver Folmar, December 10, 1982,
Complaint, Harald E. Dacde of al. va. Rob-
art . Lesviaef al., Farenry 28, 1063, Ciraait
Court, 11th Judical Circait, Chancery Case
Mo 830971, Robert J. Lewis to Mr, Peiers,
Febroary 2, 1963, Lewis to Yon Zamit,
March 13, 1963, Minutes of mecting, Lewis
Properties, Inc., May 1, 1963, RILE

130, Anonymous to Willinm [Willis] Greene,
April 1, 1963, RILE

131, Compluint te Quist Title, Peier J, Sond-
ere ef al. ve. Robert J. Leans ef al., Circuit
Cowrt, 11th.Judicial Cireualt, Chaneery, Case
Mo, 8304738, RILE:

132, *“Bult Laya Claim to Heart of Miani,"
Miami News, April 23, 1863, “Lewis Claim
May Pay OfT° Koy Weal Crtizen, May 22,
1863, copies in RILF:

133, Miller Deavis to Robert J, Lewis, April 24,
1863, RILE

134, Minutes of Meeting, Lewia Properties,
Inc, undnted, RILE

135. “Property Claim is Explained by Lewis,"
Koy West Gosette, June 14, 1963, copy in
RILE

138, Judgment, Saaders vs. Lewis, December
13, 1963, Robert J. Lewia te Joaeph
dennings, July 3, 1964, RJLE

137, "Lewia Losea, Will Appeal,® Key West Oifi-
zen, December 15, 1963, Robert J. Lewis to
Saul T Von Zamit, Januwary 27, 1964, RILE

138, J.¥. Porter, IV to Joseph F. Jennings, Feb-
runry &, 12, 17, March 8, 1264, Jennings to
Parter, March 3, 1964, Robert JJ. Lowis to
Mnnuel Enine, March 18, 1964, Zainc to
Lerwin, April 17, May 28, 1964, Memaran-
dum, Robert J. Lewin to defendants in
Karnegis case, April 18, 1964, Lawis to
Harry Smith, June 15, 1984, Lewis to
dennings, Jaky 3, 1964, RILE

13, Robert J. Lewis to Joseph F. Jennings,
duly 3, 1964, Jennings to Lewis, July 249,
1664; Order, June 11, 1864, Robert o, Lewis
e al. vs. Peler . Sanders of all, Court of
Appenls, Third District, Cose Mo, 64-2002.

L4, J. Y. Porter, IV toJoseph F. Jennings, June
18, 1964, Rebert J. Lewis to Jonnings, un-
dated, RJLE

141. Jossph F. Jennings to Rebort J, Lawla,
Aupgast 20, September 25, 1964, Lewis to
Jennirgs, Seplembar 21, 1964, RILP

14%. Lawyer Heforral Service of Dade Couanty
BarAsssciation to Hobert J. Lewis, Septem-
ber 28, 1964, Lewin to Joseph F. Jennings,
Ohetober 12, 1964, Jennings to Lowis, Octo-
ber 14, 1584, RILF

143, Anthany Capodilupo te Robart JJ. Lewis,
Murch T, 198E&, Dan G. Wheeler, Jr. 80 Lewisa,
February 10, 1966, Jesse J. MeCrary, Jr. to
Lewia, Febmaary 8, 1967, RILE




